The South gf Market

_leather History.. -

Fehe's Leather Davul

ne of San Francisco’s sea-
sonal rituals occurs each
year in late September,
when leather-clad men
and ‘women from all over
the world pour into the
City for Leather Week festivities,
culminating in the Folsom Street
Trair, The fair is the third-largest

public event in California, and the |
. largest leather event in the world,

Often thought of as the ulti-
mate manifestation of the leather
character of South of Market, one
of the worlds most legendary
leather  neighborhoods, the
Folsom Street Fair only began in
1984, and not specifically as a
leather event, Leathermen had
begun to congregate South of
Market in the mid-1960s, and the
leather presence peaked in the
eatly 1980s. In'an odd way, the
Folsom Fair recreates a South of
Market that is a shadow of its for-
mer glory—and in some danger of
disappearing altogether.

Geographies of Gay Sex in San

. Francisco

Prior to the emergence of the
South of Market leather scene,
homosexual gathetinig places tend-
ed to cluster in neighborhoods that
sheltered other activities of urban
vice. When San Francisco began to
have a visible leather population in
the 1950s and early 1960s, these
men could be found in North
Beach bars such as the famous Black
Cat (whose legal battles helped to
establish the rights of homosexuals
to congtegate and drink in public),
Tenderloin gay spots like the Old
Crow and the Caboose, and the old
waterfront, particularly the area
near the Ferry Building and the
foot of Market Street. ‘

Indeed, a' 1954 Mattachine
Society convention guide in San

“Trancisco described one such bar,
the Sea Cow, as a place for “beer, .

wine, and seamen,” and the
Embarcadero YMCA was notori-
ous for sexual assignations, By the
late 1950s, Jack’s Waterfront Bar

had a substantial gay clientele and

was one of the first Jocal bars
where leathermen began to visibly
congregate. A

In the early 1960s,. two forces
closed down most of these bars,
Most lost their liquor licenses in a
series of police actions called the
“gayola” raids, Moreover, during
the post-World War II period, city
agencies and large private real
estate developers began to plan
ambitious projects to redevelop sev-
eral .areas of San Francisco, Office
towers, high-end retail shops and
expensive residential units would
eventually occupy the sites of the
old produce market, sailors’ haunts
and shuttered gay bars.

The first bar in San Francisco .

specifically oriented to the leather
crowd was in the Tenderloin—the

" Why Not, which operated briefly

in 1962 at 518 Ellis St. Just as the
Why Not was closing, the Tool
Box opened at 399 Fourth St. at
Harrison. ‘The Tool Box was ‘a
sensation—

attracting media notice. In 1964
Life magazine did a story on homo-
sexuality in America with a photo-
graph of the Tool Box interior
spread across the two opening
pages, displaying to all of America
the most distinctive feature of the

_bar: a huge mural painted by local
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artist Chuck Arnett, who also
worked there as a bartender. The
dramatic black and white mural
depicted a variety of tough-look-
ing, masculine men, The photo-
graph in Life included not only the
painting, but also bar patrons
standing in front of it, including
Arnett,

Another man in the Tool Box
photograph is Mike Caffee. In
1966 he designed the logo for
Tebe’s and created a statue which
came to symbolize the bar. He
modified 2 small plaster reproduc-
tion of Michelangelo’s “David,”

making him into a classic 1960s gay

biker, Later, this “Leather David”
became one of the most well-
known symbols of San Francisco
leather, reproduced and dissemi-
nated around the world, One still
remains in a case on the wall of the
Paradise Lounge, a mostly straight
rock and roll bar which opened on
the site occupied by Febe's.
Despite its enormous influ-
ence, the popularity of the Tool
Box was short lived. By 1965, it
had competition from the Detour,

in the Western Addition, and On .

the Levee, on part of The
Embarcadero as yet unmolested
by redevelopment. When the
building was torn down for rede-
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1. Tho Yool Box hiar (1862-71) — 309 Fourth 51,

2. 820 Folsom (1986-91) — 89 Folsom §1.

3. Tho Hot Housa batinousa (1676-83) — 874 Fifth 51,
4, BlowBuddlos sex club (1992~ ) — 933 Harrlson St

5. Trading Post Emporium lealher shop (1976-83); Long Dong Chul bookstore/sex club (1878-76); .

A Tasto of Leater foather shop (1978-84) — 860 Folsom SL.

6, The Hotel batlihouse (1976-78); Tho Handball Express baththouse (179-82) — 873 Harlson St

7, Drummer magazing (1987-89); The Sentine! newspaper (1892-95) — 285 Shipley St.

6, The Hula Shack lesblan bar (1862-67); Rama, The 678, Lumberyard aiter-hours {1968-76); The Siot sex club (1876-85) — 678 Folsom L.
9, The Tubs (1976-77); Falsom S1. Baths (1978-79); Sutro Bath House (1979-83) — 1015 Folsom S1.

10, Tha Bas Statlon har (1068-70); Round-Up bar (1970-78); Walsring Hole bar and playground (1979-84) — 298 Slxth SL.

Map deslgh by M. Czajkowski; historical detalis courtesy of G. Rubin
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velopment in 1971, old patrons came
gt bricks of the\Tool Box as

and was particularly popular with bikers
for almost two decades. The Stud, near-
by at 1535 Folsom (currently the Holy

.Cow) began as a leather bar, but soon

evolved into a “hippie” bar and later a

dance bar, The Ramrod opened at 1225

Folsom (now My Place) in 1968, and
quickly acquired a popularity that
rivaled that of Febe’s. The In Between,
located at 1347 Folsom—in between

Febes and the Ramrod—was short-

lived, but was succeeded by several oth-
ers on the same site, including: a bar
with no name, a bar officially called No
Name, the Bolt, the Brig, and finally
the Powerhouse, Today’s reopened
Powerhouse is still on the same corner,

Leather bars and sex clubs continued
to proliferate in the area in the early

"1970s, The Boot Camp opened in 1971

at 1010 Bryant St; the Folsom Street
Barracks (1147 Folsom) and the Red Star

Saloon (1145 Yolsom) opened in 1972
etween Seventh and Eighth,
y the Ambush at 1351

nd D ]

(on the corner of Howard and Eighth,
later a paint store and now empty)
appeared. The class of 1979 included
the Stables, the Watering Hole and
the Trench, a piss palace which later
ironically became a laundromat. The
Leatherneck opened at 280 Eleventh
St. at Folsom, soon to be replaced by
the Plunge, which had a swimming
pool. In 1981 the Drummer organiza-
tion put the Drummer Key Club in
the building, then a bar called
Drummaster and another called the
Gold Coast. The Compound succeed-
ed the Gold Coast, and then in 1984 a
straight dance club called the Oasis
took over the site, Leather bars kept
opening in the early 1980s, including
the Headquarters and the San
Francisco Eagle in 1981, the Cave in
1982 and Chaps in 1983,

It is interesting to note that with the

exception of A Thste of Leather most

of the lea
Polk Streg

y
the visible street life of the Folsom not

“only at night, but also in daylight. But

in ways that were not yet obvious, the
foundations of leather South of
Market were being undermined by
economic and political forces as well
as the emerging AIDS epidemic, Tony
Tavarossi, who had managed the Why
Not, hung out in the Catacombs and
had ‘been a central figure in local
leather, died suddenly in 1981 of
pneumonia; his friends had not yet
heard of pneumocyst:s and thought of
pneumonia as the bacterial kind treat-
able with antibiotics.

In July 1981 the Folsom Street Fire
burned out several leathermen who
lived on Brush and Hallam, two tiny
alleyways off of Folsom between
Seventh and Eighth, Among those dis-
located were artists such as Rex and

Mark 1. Chester, and leatherman-.
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11, Mistor 8. oather shop (1980-80)—227 Seventh St

12, The Cave bar {1961-82); The Rawhide i bar (1982-)—260 Seventh 1.
13. Mistor 5 Loatiors (1993~ }—310 Soventh 81,

14. The Stables bar {1979-80)—1123 Folsom 81,

15, Folsom 51, Bamacks bathhiouse (1972-76); Walaring Holo bar (1984-2}-—1145-47 Folsom §1.
16, The Walting Arms/Earihquake Ethel's (1874); The Hungry Hola bar (1676-77) Brown's Pub (1980-83); The Bay

brick inn fesbian bar (1962-07)—1188-1180 Folsom 1.
17, The Hol In the Wall bar (1893-)—289 Eighth St.
16. Natlonal Laather Assoclation (1893~ )}-—1260 Folsom St.
19, The Ramrod biar (1968-86); My Piace (1887~ }—1225 Folsom §1.
20, Ringold Alley—crulsing area; firs! Up Your Alley streed falr .
21, The Arena bar (1976-85); The St bar (1987-}—309 Hith St.

22, Tho Ambush bar, Jeather shop, restaurant and arl gallery (173-83)—1351 Harrison 81,

23, The Lono Star bar {1990- }—1351 Harrlson 1.

24. Tha In Botwoen bar {1871-72); No Namp bar (1073-76); Tho Bolt bar {1676-79); Yho Brig bar (1676-85; Power
house bar {1985-91; reapened undor new management 1687}—1347 Falsom SI.

25. A Tasto of Leather leather shop; Mack sex club (1990-1899)—317 Tenth St.
26, Febe's bar (1966-86)—1501 Folsom St,

27, Tho Stud bar (1966-87)—1435 Folsom St.

28, The Plunge ba, poo), aflerhours (1976-80); The Gold Coast bar (1981-62); Drummaster/Dsummer Key Club bar
and private club (1982); The Compaund sex club (1983-84)—200 Eleventh St.

20, The San Franclsco Eagle bar (1982-)-—398 Twelllh §1.

about-town Alexis Sorrel (a member of

<and later the Black Leather

examples of a new kind of hig

housing that later became so*ubiqui-
tous and associated with the dot-com .

invasions of the late 1990s.

Large sections of South of Market
were ‘approved for redevelopment by
the Board of Supervisors in 1953. In
1954 an ambitious plan was unveiled to
build a convention center, sports stadi-
um and many high-rise buildings.
Forcible relocation of several thousand
residents and small businesses began in
earnest in 1966, but the big redevelop-
ment projects hit a snag when local

_owners and residents sued to stop the

evictions, Those lawsuits were not set-
tled until the late 1970s, when the con-
struction of what is now the Yerba
Buena Center began. The first major
completion was the Moscone Center,
The years from 1966, when the first

leather bars were moving into South of-

Market, until 1981, when the Moscone
Center opened, neatly demarcate the
period in which leather life prohferated
South of Market.

The early 1980s were hard times
for the Folsom, so much so that one
local magazine proclaimed “The
Death of Leather.” The Cave and the
Handball Express closed in 1982, In
1983, the Trench was closed for
liquor-license violations, and the

* Hothouse, a bathhouse, shut down, In

1984, the Catacombs, the Cauldron,
the Compound and the Sutro Baths
all ceased operations. Animals, the
Arena, the Brig, the Boot Camp,
Chaps, the Slot and the South of
Market Club were among the casual-
ties of 1985, By 1986, several other
venerable institutions disappeared:
the 'Ambush and the Ramrod were
suddenly gone, along with Templar
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Hall, a private dungeon on Folsom
Street run by the Knights Templar.
AIDS was the popular explanation
for the collapse of leather South of
Market, but there were other critical
factors, 1984 was the year in which a
successful crusade was launched to close
the gay bathhouses, ostensibly as a tactic
to fight the AIDS epidemic, Whether
bathhouse closure had any significant
impact on reducing HIV transmission is
still debated. But since most of the gay
commercial sex establishment was locat-

ed South of Market, the closure of local |

baths and sex clubs eviscerated the
neighborhood gay and leather economy.
In addition, redevelopment smged
in the early 1980s, and new zoning
guidelines were under review that
would have a significant impact on the
future shape of South of Market, It was
g these battles over city plannin
that two South of Mark

stanual leather parumpauon which has
grown over the years.

As Connell put it in a recent conver-
sation, South of Market was to be “the
new gem in the crown of the city estab-
lishment and also by the way there was a
great deal of money to be made in that
process.” The first Folsom Fair, in 1984,
did have an impact on the planning
process and neighborhood identity,
although it was unable to halt the rede-
velopment juggemant.

Leather Rising

But pronouncements of the death
of leather were premature. Already in
1986 a recovery was underway when
new owners of Drummer magazine
and Mr. S Products brought in new
capital and renewed commitment to
the neighborhood. The Ramrod
became My Place. In 1990 the Lone
Star opened on Harrison across from
d Ambush, and Stormy
opened a shop on Howard

Mission riear Eleventh and Stompers
Boots opened at 323 Tenth, In 2000, A

Taste of Leather moved into new digs
at 1339 Folsom, with the Mack sex
club reopening in the same building.
Despite the accelerating pace of
change South of Market, leather has
shown a stubborn resilience and a sur-
prising ability to resist displacement
altogether, although it no longer dom-
inates even nightlife in the Folsom.

In 1999 and 2000, the changes South
of Market escalated even more dramat-
ically during the dot-com bubble. A tor-
rent of Internet capital swamped the
market for commercial leasing, and
builders rushed in to exploit the city’s
live-work regulations to put up apart-
ments and condominiums to house
those newly enriched by speculative
finance and stock options, The ensuing
frenzy of construction and displacement

bl u[,h' ore vmble

Bath and Trader Joe’s. The increased

ple) upe :
such as Costco, OfficeMax, Bed and

intermingling of gay or leather sites
with more mainstream undertakings
has meant a loss of the very privacy that
once drew leathermen to South of
Market, but coexisting has become an
adaptive necessity.

The resilience of leather in San
Francisco is now most evident during
Leather Pride Week, when the com-
munity comes out in full force and full
dress, While the Folsom Fair is now
more leather. identified than it was at
its inception, it also recreates a time
and place that are no longer what they
once were. It is difficult to predict how

much leather businesses and residents -

can continue to withstand the devel-
opmental pressures South of Market,
and the future of leather in the neigh-
borhood is uncertain. But for now,
there is still a present to celebrate and
h past to explore,
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